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SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016, AND DECEMBER 31, 2015 

 

 

  Notes  

 December 31,  

 2016  

 December 31,   

 2015  

 December 31,   

 2016  

 December 31, 

 2015  

ASSETS  (In thousands Korean Won) (In thousands U.S. dollars) 

CURRENT ASSETS:      

 Cash and cash equivalents 5 Á 882,178,525 Á 695,733,686 $ 729,978 $ 575,700 

 Short-term financial instruments 4,5 75,622,153 113,629,476 62,575 94,025 

 Financial assets held for trading 2,5,9 22,818,283  -  18,881  - 

 Trade receivables 5,7,8,22,32 942,085,420 736,242,798 779,549 609,220 

 Due from customers for contract work 5,8,20,26,32 1,301,015,986 1,519,621,931 1,076,554 1,257,445 

 Other receivables 5,8 116,713,458 118,405,880 96,577 97,978 

 Current portions of held-to- 

  maturity securities 2,5,11 91,610 4,189,970 76 3,467 

 Derivative financial instruments 5,6,21,22 16,079,744 2,639,430 13,306 2,184 

 Firm commitment assets 22 20,088,238 53,734,327 16,622 44,464 

 Advanced payments 8 205,544,329 360,971,098 170,082 298,694 

 Prepaid expenses  48,018,361 97,258,211 39,735 80,478 

 Prepaid construction expenses  7,480,628 24,062,866 6,190 19,911 

 Short-term loan receivable 5,8,32 9,885,363 12,180,790 8,180 10,079 

 Other current assets 5,12,32 7,852,909 31,652,335 6,498 26,191 

 Income tax refund receivables   2,693,302  4,689,296  2,229  3,880 

Total current assets   3,658,168,309  3,775,012,094  3,027,032  3,123,716 

      

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:      

 Available-for-sale financial assets 2,5,6,10 36,300,093 45,737,699 30,037 37,847 

 Held-to-maturity financial assets 2,5,11 441,355 465,830 365 385 

 Derivative financial instruments 5,6,21,22 123,667 7,294,092 102 6,036 

 Firm commitment assets 22 9,767 15,309 8 13 

 Investments in associates and  

  joint venture 13 30,885,361 23,027,778 25,557 19,055 

 Property, plant and equipment 15,22 656,813,251 686,541,360 543,495 568,094 

 Intangible assets 16 95,718,996 50,260,625 79,205 41,589 

 Long-term deposits 4,5,22,26 240,555,430 261,526,163 199,053 216,406 

 Long-term prepaied expenses  757,699 3,744,127 627 3,098 

 Other non-current assets 4,5,8,12 19,313,762 107,134,225 15,982 88,651 

 Deferred income tax assets 30  781,035,850  669,999,217  646,285  554,406 

Total non-current assets   1,861,955,231  1,855,746,425  1,540,716  1,535,580 

TOTAL ASSETS  Á 5,520,123,540 Á 5,630,758,519 $ 4,567,748 $ 4,659,296 

 

(Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016, AND DECEMBER 31, 2015(CONTINUED) 

 

 

  Notes  

 December 31,  

 2016  

 December 31,  

 2015  

 December 31,  

 2016  

 December 31,  

 2015  

LIABILITIES   (In thousands Korean Won) (In thousands U.S. dollars) 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:      

 Trade payables and other payables 5,17,21 Á 1,179,332,711 Á 1,462,971,661 $ 975,865 $ 1,210,568 

 Borrowings and other financial 

  liabilities 5,18,21,22 720,770,652 1,514,078,101 596,418 1,252,857 

 Current matures of long-term 

  borrowings 5,18,21,22 730,836,250 451,225,000 604,747 373,376 

 Due to customers for contract work 20,26 1,402,315,752 1,170,682,015 1,160,377 968,707 

 Derivative financial instruments 5,6,21,22 16,283,897 24,297,391 13,474 20,105 

 Firm commitment liabilities 22 8,267,562 24,566,940 6,841 20,328 

 Deposits  62,426,556 52,505,938 51,656 43,447 

 Accrued expenses 5,20,21 52,915,130 54,413,115 43,786 45,025 

 Current income tax liabilities  37,208,854 14,806,327 30,789 12,252 

 Other current liabilities 20,21,26  103,558,191  14,209,381  85,692  11,758 

 Total current liabilities   4,313,915,555  4,783,755,869  3,569,645  3,958,423 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:      

 Debentures 18,21  - 10,000  - 8 

 Long-term borrowings 18,21,22  - 856,748,750  - 708,937 

 Derivative financial instruments 5,6,21,22 9,625,244 3,984,060 7,965 3,297 

 Net defined benefit liabilities 3,19 52,404,036 76,036,007 43,363 62,918 

 Provision for other liabilities 20,22 5,114,264 5,165,164 4,232 4,274 

 Deferred income tax liabilities 30 14,342,337 14,923,186 11,868 12,349 

 Other non-current liabilities 5,21  128,518,573  203,070,476  106,345  168,035 

 Total non-current liabilities   210,004,454  1,159,937,643  173,773  959,818 

 TOTAL LIABILITIES  21  4,523,920,009  5,943,693,512  3,743,418  4,918,241 

EQUITY      

 Capital stock 23,32 980,000,000 200,000,000 810,923 165,494 

 Capital surplus 23,32 473,753,257 56,624,298 392,018 46,855 

 Accumulated deficit 24 (197,770,928) (291,937,554) (163,650) (241,570) 

 Other reserves 5,19,22,25 (245,044,866) (279,175,862) (202,768) (231,010) 

 Non-controlling interest   (14,733,932)  1,554,125  (12,193)  1,286 

 TOTAL EQUITY   996,203,531  (312,934,993)  824,330  (258,945) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   Á 5,520,123,540 Á 5,630,758,519 $ 4,567,748 $ 4,659,296 

 

(Concluded) 

 

See notes 

 

 



 

 

SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016, AND DECEMBER 31, 2015 

 

 

 

  Notes  

 December 31, 

 2016  

 December 31, 

 2015  

 December 31, 

 2016  

 December 31, 

 2015  

  (In thousands Korean Won) (In thousands U.S. dollars) 

      

      

Revenue 2,3,26,32,34 Á 7,009,433,382 Á 6,441,250,861 $ 5,800,110 $ 5,329,955 

Cost of sales 27,32  6,527,491,653  7,530,302,891  5,401,317  6,231,115 

Gross profit(loss)  481,941,729 (1,089,052,030) 398,793 (901,160) 

 Administrative expenses 27,28  411,886,034  365,282,462  340,824  302,261 

Operating profit(loss) 34  70,055,695  (1,454,334,492)  57,969  (1,203,421) 

 Other income 5,22,29  450,536,955  272,686,854  372,808  225,640 

 Other losses 5,7,22,29  463,765,818  248,181,450  383,753  205,363 

 Share of profit of associates 13  4,780,207  3,908,115  3,955  3,234 

 Finance income 5     

  Interest income  16,200,429 10,836,156 13,405 8,967 

  Gain on foreign currency transactions  47,746,894 32,775,371 39,509 27,121 

  Gain on foreign currency translation   6,827,711  11,350,543  5,650  9,392 

   70,775,034  54,962,070  58,564  45,480 

 Finance costs 5     

  Interest expenses  26,969,891 30,311,984 22,317 25,082 

  Loss on foreign currency transactions  32,298,516 31,612,928 26,726 26,159 

  Loss on foreign currency translation   16,738,646  17,210,392  13,851  14,241 

   76,007,053  79,135,304  62,894  65,482 

Profit(loss) before income tax  56,375,020 (1,450,094,207) 46,649 (1,199,912) 

 Income tax expenses(benefit) 30  46,949,944  (145,745,513)  38,850  (120,600) 

   9,425,076  (1,304,348,694)  7,799  (1,079,312) 

Profit(loss) for the year Profit 

 attributable to :       

 Owners of the parent  25,759,425 (1,305,280,697) 21,315 (1,080,083) 

 Non-controlling interests  (16,334,349) 932,003 (13,516) 771 

Earnings(loss) per share 31     

 Basic earnings(loss) per share  Á 150 Á (35,301) $ -  $ (29) 

 

 

 

See notes 



 

 

SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016, AND DECEMBER 31, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 December 31, 

 2016  

 December 31, 

 2015  

 December 31, 

 2016  

 December 31, 

 2015  

 (In thousands Korean Won) (In thousands U.S. dollars) 

     

Profit(loss) for the year Á 9,425,076 Á(1,304,348,694) $ 7,799 $ (1,079,312) 

Other comprehensive income     

Comprehensive income which is not be 

 reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     

     

  Actuarial loss on retirement benefit obligation 5,721,214 1,673,678 4,734 1,385 

  Gain on revaluation  - 103,391,391  - 85,553 

  Income tax of other comprehensive income (1,384,534) (25,425,747) (1,146) (21,039) 

Comprehensive income which is  

 reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     

     

  Valuation of currency forwards 4,260,796 (9,655,344) 3,526 (7,990) 

  Change in value of available-for-sale  

   financial assets (3,441,194) 53,240 (2,847) 45 

  Share of other comprehensive income of 

   associates 3,077,377 3,288,707 2,546 2,721 

  Foreign currency translation (53,835,415) (37,602,076) (44,547) (31,115) 

  Income tax of other comprehensive income (198,344) 2,345,766 (164) 1,941 

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year,  

 net of tax (45,800,100) 38,069,615 (37,898) 31,501 

     

Total comprehensive income for the year  (36,375,024)  (1,266,279,079)  (30,099)  (1,047,811) 

Attributable to :      

  Equity holders of the parent company (120,063,006) (1,267,186,586) (16,601) (1,048,562) 

  Non-controlling Interest (16,312,017) 907,507 (13,498) 751 

 

 

 

See notes 



 

 

 

SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERSŚ EQUITY 

 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 

  Capital stock   Capital Surplus  

 Retained 

 Earnings  

 Other 

 Components 

 of Equity  

 Attributable to 

 owners  

 of the Parent  

 Company  

 Non 

 -controlling 

 Interest  

 Total 

 Equity  

 (In thousands Korean Won) 

Balance at of January 1, 2016 Á 200,000,000 Á 56,624,298 Á (291,937,554) Á (279,175,862) Á (314,489,118) Á 1,554,125 Á (312,934,993) 

Comprehensive income        
 Profit for the year  -  - 25,759,425  - 25,759,425 (16,334,349) 9,425,076 

 Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets  -  -  - (2,608,426) (2,608,426)  - (2,608,426) 

 Gain (Loss) on valuation of Derivative  -  -  - 3,229,683 3,229,683  - 3,229,683 

 Share of other comprehensive income of associates  -  -  - 3,077,377 3,077,377  - 3,077,377 

 Gain on translation of foreign operations  -  -  - (53,857,746) (53,857,746) 22,332 (53,835,414) 

 Actuarial loss on retirement benefit obligation  -   -   -   4,336,680  4,336,680  -   4,336,680 
 Total comprehensive income for the year  -   -   25,759,425  (45,822,432)  (20,063,007)  (16,312,017)  (36,375,024) 

        

Transactions with equity holders of the Company :        
 Disposal of treasury stock  -  -  - 91,760,291 91,760,291  - 91,760,291 
 Share options scheme  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
 Increased paid-in capital of controlling company 780,000,000 473,753,257  -  - 1,253,753,257  - 1,253,753,257 

 Increased paid-in capital of subsidiary company  -  -  - (23,961) (23,961) 23,961  - 
 Deficit preservation  -   (56,624,298)  68,407,200  (11,782,902)  -   -   -  
 Total transactions with equity holders of  

  the Company, recognized directly in equity  780,000,000  417,128,959  68,407,200  79,953,428  1,345,489,587  23,961  1,345,513,548 
Balance at of December 31, 2016 Á 980,000,000 Á 473,753,257 Á (197,770,929) Á (245,044,866) Á 1,010,937,462 Á (14,733,931) Á 996,203,531 

 

(Continued) 

  



 

 

 

SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERSŚ EQUITY(CONTINUED) 

 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 

 

  Capital stock   Capital Surplus  

 Retained 

 Earnings  

 Other 

 Components 

 of Equity  

 Attributable to 

 owners  

 of the Parent  

 Company  

 Non 

 -controlling 

 Interest  

 Total 

 Equity  

  (In thousands Korean Won) 

Balance at of January 1, 2015 Á 200,000,000 Á 56,624,298 Á 1,013,344,270 Á (317,271,099) Á 952,697,469 Á 646,617 Á 953,344,086 

Comprehensive income        
 Profit for the year  -  - (1,305,280,697)  - (1,305,280,697) 932,003 (1,304,348,694) 

 Gain on revaluation  -  -  - 78,370,675 78,370,675  - 78,370,675 

 Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets  -  -  - 40,356 40,356  - 40,356 

 Gain (Loss) on valuation of Derivative  -  -  - (7,296,693) (7,296,693) (1) (7,296,694) 

 Share of other comprehensive income of associates  -  -  - 3,288,707 3,288,707  - 3,288,707 

 Gain on translation of foreign operations  -  -  - (37,577,581) (37,577,581) (24,494) (37,602,075) 

 Actuarial loss on retirement benefit obligation  -   -   -   1,268,647  1,268,647  -   1,268,647 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -   -   (1,305,280,697)  38,094,111  (1,267,186,586)  907,508  (1,266,279,078) 

        

Transactions with equity holders of the Company :        
 Disposition of subsidiary companies  -  -  - (1) (1)  - (1) 

 Absorption of loss on disposal of treasury stock  -   -   (1,127)  1,127  -   -   -  
 Total transactions with equity holders of  

  the Company, recognized directly in equity  -   -   (1,127)  1,126  (1)  -   (1) 
Balance at of December 31, 2015 Á 200,000,000 Á 56,624,298 Á (291,937,554) Á (279,175,862) Á (314,489,118) Á 1,554,125 Á (312,934,993) 

 

(Continued) 

 

  



 

 

 

SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERSŚ EQUITY(CONTINUED) 

 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 

  Capital stock   Capital Surplus  

 Retained 

 Earnings  

 Other 

 Components 

 of Equity  

 Attributable to 

 owners  

 of the Parent  

 Company  

 Non 

 -controlling 

 Interest  

 Total 

 Equity  

 (In thousands U.S. dollars) 

Balance at of January 1, 2016 $ 165,494 $ 46,855 $ (241,570) $ (231,010) $ (260,231) $ 1,286 $ (258,945) 

Comprehensive income        

 Profit for the year  -  - 21,315  - 21,315 (13,516) 7,799 

 Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets  -  -  - (2,158) (2,158)  - (2,158) 

 Gain (Loss) on valuation of Derivative  -  -  - 2,672 2,672  - 2,672 

 Share of other comprehensive income of associates  -  -  - 2,546 2,546  - 2,546 

 Gain on translation of foreign operations  -  -  - (44,566) (44,566) 18 (44,548) 

 Actuarial loss on retirement benefit obligation  -   -   -   3,588  3,588  -   3,588 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -   -   21,315  (37,918)  (16,603)  (13,498)  (30,101) 

        

Transactions with equity holders of the Company :        

 Disposal of treasury stock  -  -  - 75,929 75,929  - 75,929 

 Share options scheme  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Increased paid-in capital of controlling company 645,428 392,018  -  - 1,037,446  - 1,037,446 

 Increased paid-in capital of subsidiary company  -  -   -  (20) (20) 20  - 

 Deficit preservation  -   (46,855)  56,605  (9,750)  -   -   -  
 Total transactions with equity holders of  

  the Company, recognized directly in equity  645,428  345,163  56,605  66,159  1,113,355  20  1,113,375 

Balance at of December 31, 2016 $ 810,922 $ 392,018 $ (163,650) $ (202,769) $ 836,521 $ (12,192) $ 824,329 

 

(Continued) 

 

  



 

 

 

SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERSŚ EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 

 

  Capital stock   Capital Surplus  

 Retained 

 Earnings  

 Other 

 Components 

 of Equity  

 Attributable to 

 owners  

 of the Parent  

 Company  

 Non 

 -controlling 

 Interest  

 Total 

 Equity  

  (In thousands U.S. dollars) 

Balance at of January 1, 2015 $ 165,494 $ 46,855 $ 838,514 $ (262,533) $ 788,330 $ 535 $ 788,865 

Comprehensive income        
 Profit for the year  -  - (1,080,083)  - (1,080,083) 771 (1,079,312) 

 Gain on revaluation  -  -  - 64,850 64,850  - 64,850 

 Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets  -  -  - 33 33  - 33 

 Gain (Loss) on valuation of Derivative  -  -  - (6,038) (6,038)  - (6,038) 

 Share of other comprehensive income of associates  -  -  - 2,721 2,721  - 2,721 

 Gain on translation of foreign operations  -  -  - (31,094) (31,094) (20) (31,114) 

 Actuarial loss on retirement benefit obligation  -   -   -   1,050  1,050  -   1,050 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -   -   (1,080,083)  31,522  (1,048,561)  751  (1,047,810) 

        

Transactions with equity holders of the Company :        
 Disposition of subsidiary companies  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Absorption of loss on disposal of treasury stock  -   -   (1)  1  -   -   -  
 Total transactions with equity holders of  

  the Company, recognized directly in equity  -   -   (1)  1  -   -   -  

Balance at of December 31, 2015 $ 165,494 $ 46,855 $ (241,570) $ (231,010) $ (260,231) $ 1,286 $ (258,945) 

 

(Concluded) 

See notes 



 

 

 

 SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 
  Korean won   U.S Dollars ` 

 

 December 31,  

 2016  

 December 31, 

 2015  

 December 31,  

 2016  

 December 31, 

 2015  

  (In thousands)  (In thousands) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 

 ACTIVITIES(Note 33):     

 Cash generated from (used in) operations  294,896,422  (667,627,477) $ 244,019 $ (552,443) 

 Interest received 14,402,413 9,317,942 11,918 7,710 

 Interest paid (51,199,320) (44,037,843) (42,367) (36,440) 

 Dividends received 3,995,379 1,180,619 3,306 977 

 Income Taxes paid  (74,171,392)  (132,332,627)  (61,375)  (109,502) 

Net cash generated by operating activities  187,923,502  (833,499,386)  155,501  (689,698) 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:     

 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

 equipment 5,385,260 38,763,635 4,456 32,076 

 Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 905,275 2,789,400 749 2,308 

 Net increase in financial assets 38,007,323 62,881,409 31,450 52,033 

 Proceeds from disposal of financial assets held  

  for trading  - 20,206,967  - 16,721 

 Proceeds of current portion of held-to-maturity  

  financial assets 4,131,747 262,634 3,419 217 

 Collection of short-term loan receivables 2,074,952 2,100,000 1,717 1,738 

 Decrease in non-current assets 83,310,000 50,594,188 68,937 41,865 

 Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets (765,500) (61,990) (633) (51) 

 Acquisition of held-to-maturity financial assets (67,135) (90,974) (56) (75) 

 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (24,146,243) (20,235,110) (19,980) (16,744) 

 Acquisition of intangible assets (14,479,863) (25,170,440) (11,982) (20,828) 

 Increase in short-term loan receivables  - (1,850,000)  - (1,531) 

 Increase in non-current assets  -   (109,838,088)  -   (90,888) 

Net cash provided by investing activities  94,355,816  20,351,631  78,077  16,841 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:     

 Net increase from short term borrowings (796,844,448) 133,817,218 (659,367) 110,730 

 Repayment of current portion of long-term 

 borrowings (530,122,188)  - (438,661)  - 

 Repayment of long-term borrowings (58,828,125)  - (48,679)  - 

 Redemption of bonds (10,000)  - (8)  - 

 Increase in long-term borrowings  - 938,562,188  - 776,634 

 Issuance 1,253,753,257  - 1,037,446  - 

 Disposal of treasury stock  30,179,899  -   24,973  -  

  (101,871,605)  1,072,379,406  (84,296)  887,364 

Net cash used by financing activities     

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of 

 cash and cash equivalents held in foreign 

  currencies 6,037,125 48,459,063 4,996 40,098 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 186,444,838 307,690,714 154,278 254,605 

Cash and cash equivalents , beginning of the 

year  695,733,687  388,042,973  575,700  321,095 

Cash and cash equivalents , end of the year  882,178,525  695,733,687  729,978  575,700 

 

 

See notes
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SAMSUNG ENGINEERING CO., LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

 

 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION : 

 

These consolidated financial statements consist of the financial statements of Samsung Engineering Co., Ltd. 

(ñSECLò or ñParent Companyò), as the parent company, and its 21 subsidiaries (collectively the ñGroupò), and 

four associates and joint ventures, and have been prepared in accordance with the Korean International Financial 

Reporting Standards (ñK-IFRSò) 1110, Consolidated financial statements. 

 

SECL was established on January 20, 1970, under the Commercial Law of the Republic of Korea to engage in 

the engineering services for plant and other construction.  The Company listed its shares on the Korea Stock 

Exchange on December 24, 1996.  Its registered office is in Seoul, Korea.  As of December 31, 2016, its 

capital stock is 980,000,000 thousand, and the largest shareholder is Samsung SDI Co., Ltd., which has 

11.69 % ownership. 

 

As of December 31, 2016, its major shareholders are as follows: 

 Name of Shareholder   Number of Shares   Ownership (%)  

Samsung SDI Co., Ltd.  22,918,426  11.69 

Samsung C&T  13,668,989  6.97 

Samsung Fire & Marine Insurance Co., Ltd.  435,000  0.22 

 

Consolidated subsidiaries 

 

As of December 31, 2016, details on subsidiaries are stated below: 

Name of Subsidiaries 

 Number of  

 shares owned  

 by SECL  

 Number of 

 shares owned  

by subsidiaries  Total  

Ownership 

 (*1)  

 Fiscal year  

 end   Location  

Samsung Saudi Arabia Co., Ltd.  673,800  200  674,000 100.00% December 31 Saudi Arabia 

Samsung EPC Company Ltd.  - 375,000 375,000 75.00% December 31 Saudi Arabia 

Samsung Engineering Construction 

 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.  -  -  - 100.00% December 31 China 

Samsung Ingenieria Manzanillo S.A. de C.V. 99,900  - 99,900 99.90% December 31 Mexico 

Samsung Engineering Trinidad Co., Ltd.  -  -  - 100.00% December 31 

Trinidad and 

Tobago 

Samsung Engineering India Private Ltd. 15,749,990  - 15,749,990 100.00% March 31 India 

Samsung Engineering America Inc. 101,500,000  - 101,500,000 100.00% December 31 USA 

SEA Construction LLC  -  -  - 100.00% December 31 USA 

SEA Louisiana Construction Inc.  - 10,000 10,000 100.00% December 31 USA 

Grupo Samsung Ingenieria Mexico S.A.  

 de C.V. 19,999  - 19,999 99.99% December 31 Mexico 

Samsung Engineering Kazakhstan LLP  -  -  - 100.00% December 31 Kazakhstan 

Samsung Engineering (Malaysia) SDN. BHD. 750,000  - 750,000 100.00% December 31 Malaysia 

Samsung Ingenieria Mexico Construccion 

 Y Operacion S.A. De C.V. ( formerly: 

 Samsung Ingenieria Minatitlan, S.A.  

 de C.V.) (*4) 49,950  - 49,950 99.90% December 31 Mexico 

Samsung Engineering (Thailand) Co., 

 Ltd.(*2) 63,437  - 63,437 49.99% December 31 Thailand 

Samsung Ingenieria Energia S.A. de C.V.  9,999  - 9,999 99.99% December 31 Mexico 

Muharraq Wastewater Services Company 

 W.L.L. 259 1 260 64.75% December 31 Bahrain 

Samsung Engineering Bolivia S.A.  419,338  - 419,338 100.00% March 31 Bolivia 

Samsung Engineering Vietnam Co., Ltd.  -  -  - 100.00% December 31 Vietnam 

Samsung Ingenieria DUBA S.A. De C.V. 9,999  - 9,999 99.99% December 31 Mexico 

Samsung Engineering Construction Xi'  

 an Co., Ltd. (*3)  -  -  -  100.00% December 31 China 

Samsung Engineering Hungary Ltd. (*3)  -   -   -  100.00% December 31 Hungary 
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(*1) The interest of the subsidiaries is considered as the interest of the Group in these subsidiaries. 

(*2) The Group has been delegated by other shareholders outside of the Company ñSamsung Engineering 

(Thailand) Co., Ltd.ò and its subsidiaries (approximately 49.98 %) full authority to make decisions to 

appoint or dismiss directors and management. Although the Group has less than a majority ownership, the 

directors determined that the Group has effective control, given the fact that it has abilities to appoint or 

dismiss a majority of the Board of Directors. 

(*3) Samsung Engineering Construction Xi' an Co., Ltd. and Samsung Engineering Hungary Ltd. were 

established during the year ended December 31, 2016. 

(*4)  Samsung Ingenieria Minatitlan, S.A. de C.V. was renamed Samsung Ingenieria Mexican Construccion Y 

Operacion. 

 
Summarized statements of financial position of major subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016, are as follows:  

 
 Samsung Saudi  

 Arabia Co., Ltd.  

 Samsung  

 Engineering  

 Construction  

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 

 Samsung  

 Engineering  

 Vietnam Co., Ltd.  

 Samsung  

 Engineering  

 (Malaysia)  

 SDN., BHD  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Current assets  272,191,433  182,627,609  151,715,944  107,310,354 

Non-current assets 38,469,746 1,866,330 158,854 1,571,632 

Total assets 310,661,179 184,493,939 151,874,798 108,881,986 

Current liabilities 863,065,422 94,867,696 66,375,062 84,434,761 

Non-current liabilities 115,316,271 8,058,904 24,713,601 8,143,521 

Total liabilities  978,381,693  102,926,600  91,088,663  92,578,282 

Net assets  (667,720,514)  81,567,339  60,786,135  16,303,704 

(*1) The summarized statements above display the adjustments of fair value and goodwill arising from business 

combination and policy difference with the controlling company and intragroup transactions have not been 

eliminated. 

 

The summarized statements of income of major subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2016, are as 

follows: 

 

 Samsung Saudi  

 Arabia Co., Ltd.  

 Samsung   

 Engineering  

 Construction  

 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd . 

 Samsung   

 Engineering  

 Vietnam Co., Ltd.  

 Samsung   

 Engineering  

 (Malaysia)  

 SDN., BHD  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Sales  392,967,063  281,316,018  325,956,948  78,860,682 

Operating profit(loss) (57,793,544) 42,223,836 57,826,660 3,361,141 

Profit(loss) for the year (139,447,894) 37,728,421 48,455,575 2,806,909 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  (22,218,497)  (3,981,548)  1,310,363  (3,094,941) 

Total comprehensive income  (161,666,391)  33,746,873  49,765,938  (288,032) 

(*1) The summarized statements above display the adjustments of fair value and goodwill arising from business 

combination and policy difference with the controlling company and intragroup transactions have not been 

eliminated. 
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A summary of statements of cash flows of major subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2016, is as 

follows: 

 
 Samsung Saudi  

 Arabia Co., Ltd.  

 Samsung   

 Engineering  

 Construction  

 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.  

 Samsung   

 Engineering  

 Vietnam Co., Ltd.  

 Samsung   

 Engineering  

 (Malaysia)  

 SDN., BHD  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Cash flows from operating activities  (50,322,915)  37,035,674  36,055,802  42,453,662 

Cash flows from investing activities (12,005,029) (6,684)  - (16,606,881) 

Cash flows from financing activities 10,056,475 (13,533,913) (33,638,985) 77,358 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 

 equivalents (52,271,470) 23,495,077 2,416,817 25,924,139 

Beginning of the year 75,067,039 1,167,286 46,418,755 63,518,950 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 

 due to translating currency  (8,764,457)  (8,126,611)  (10,558,291)  (4,182,095) 

End of the year  14,031,112  16,535,752  38,277,281  85,260,994 

(*1) The summarized statements above display the adjustments of fair value and goodwill arising from business 

combination and policy difference with the controlling company and intragroup transactions have not been 

eliminated. 

 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT  ACCOUNTING POLICIES : 

 

(1) Basis of Consolidated Financial Statement Preparation 

 

The Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements in accordance with K-IFRSs. 

 

The principal accounting policies are set out below. Except for the effect of the amendments to K-IFRSs and new 

interpretations set out below, the principal accounting policies used to prepare the consolidated financial 

statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, are consistent with the accounting policies used to 

prepare the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 

certain non-current assets and financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in the 

accounting policies below. Historical cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given. 

 

1) Amendments to K-IFRSs and new interpretations that are mandatorily effective for the current year. 

 

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to K-IFRSs and new interpretations issued 

that are mandatorily effective accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1110 ï Consolidated Financial Statements, and K-IFRS 1112 ï Disclosure of interests 

in other entities and K-IFRS 1028 ï Investment in associates.  

The amendments clarify that in applying the equity method of accounting to an associate or a joint venture that is 

an investment entity, an investor may retain the fair value measurements that the associate or joint venture used 

for its subsidiaries. The application of these amendments has no material impact on the disclosures or the 

amounts recognized in the Groupôs consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1111 ï Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 

 

The amendments to K-IFRS 1111 provide guidance on how to account for the acquisition of a joint operation that 

constitutes a business as defined in K-IFRS 1103 ï Business Combinations.  A joint operator is also required to 

disclose the relevant information required by K-IFRS 1103 and other standards for business combinations. The 

application of these amendments has no material impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognized in the 

Groupôs consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1001ðDisclosure Initiative 

 

The amendments to K-IFRS 1001 clarify the concept of applying materiality in practice and restrict an entity 

reducing the understandability of its financial statements by obscuring material information with immaterial 

information or by aggregating material items that have different natures or functions. The application of these 

amendments has no material impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognized in the Groupôs consolidated 

financial statements. 
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Amendments to K-IFRS 1016 ï Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

The amendments to K-IFRS 1016 prohibit the Group from using a revenue-based depreciation method for items 

of property, plant and equipment. The application of these amendments has no material impact on the disclosures 

or the amounts recognized in the Groupôs consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1038 ï Intangible Assets 

 

The amendments to K-IFRS 1038 do not allow presumption that revenue is an appropriate basis for the 

amortization of intangible assets, which the presumption can only be limited when the intangible asset is 

expressed as a measure of revenue or when it can be demonstrated that revenue and consumption of the 

economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated. The application of these amendments has no 

material impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognized in the Groupôs consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1016 ï Property, plant and equipment and K-IFRS 1041 ï Agriculture: Bearer Plants 

 

The amendments to K-IFRS 1016 ï Property, Plant and Equipment and K-IFRS 1041 ï Agriculture define a 

bearer plant and require biological assets that meet the definition of a bearer plant to be accounted for as 

property, plant and equipment in accordance with K-IFRS 1016, instead of K-IFRS 1041. The application of 

these amendments has no material impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognized in the Groupôs 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Annual Improvements to K-IFRS 2012-2014 ï Cycle 

 

The annual improvements include amendments to a number of K-IFRSs. The amendments introduce specific 

guidance in K-IFRS 1105 ï Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, when an entity 

reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) from held for sale to held for distribution to owners (or vice versa); such 

a change is considered as a continuation of the original plan of disposal, and not as a change to a plan of sale. 

Other amendments in the annual improvements include K-IFRS 1107 ï Financial Instruments: Disclosures, K-

IFRS 1019 ï Employee Benefits and K-IFRS 1034 ï Interim Financial Reporting. The application of these 

amendments has no material impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognized in the Groupôs consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

2) New and revised K-IFRSs in issue, but not yet effective 

 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1109 ï Financial Instruments 

K-IFRS 1109 ï Financial Instruments, enacted on September 25, 2015, effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after January 1, 2018, can be applied early. This standard supersedes existing K-IFRS 1039 ï Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Group will apply K-IFRS 1109 on or after January 1, 2018.  

 

An entity that applies K-IFRS 1109 for the first time is required to apply the standard retrospectively, subject to 

certain exemptions and exceptions of restated comparative information relating to classification, measurement and 

impairment of financial instruments, except for some specific transition requirements, accounting for the time value 

of options in the case of hedge accounting, shall be applied prospectively. 

 

The main features of K-IFRS 1109 are the business model for the management of financial assets, the classification 

and measurement of financial assets based on their contractual cash flow attributes, the impairment model of 

financial assets based on expected credit losses, the expansion of hedged items and hedging instruments qualified 

for hedge accounting, or changes in the valuation method of hedging effectiveness. 

 

Preparations for the analysis of financial impact and design of accounting policy, development of accounting 

system and system stabilization is required for the smooth adoption of K-IFRS 1109. The impact of applying this 

standard for the first time on the consolidated financial statements will not be due to the selection and judgment of 

accounting policy and can differ due to the financial instruments held by the Group, economic conditions and other 

factors during the accounting period. 

The Group has not begun improvements of the internal management process in relation to the reporting of financial 

instruments or changes to the accounting system in connection with the adoption of K-IFRS 1109 and did not 

analyze the financial impact on the consolidated financial statements if this standard is applied. However, the 

standardôs general impact on the consolidated financial statements on a case-by-case basis is as follows: 
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á Classification and measurement of financial assets 

 

All recognized financial assets that are currently within the scope of K-IFRS 1109 will be subsequently measured 

either at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (ñFVTOCIò), or fair value through profit 

or loss (ñFVTPLò) under K-IFRS 1109 based on the business model and the nature of the contractual cash flows 

as shown in the following table: 

 

The characteristics of contractual cash flow of business model 

 

 Business model  

 Contractual cash flow attributes  

 Principal and interest only   Others  

To collect contractual cash flows Measured at amortized cost(*1) 

Measured at FVTPL(*2) To collect and sell contractual cash flows Measured at FVTOCI(*1) 

To sell, others Measured at FVTPL 

(*1) Can be designated as FVTPL in order to eliminate or reduce accounting discrepancies (cannot be changed 

once a designation has been selected) 

(*2) Can be designated as FVTOCI for equity investments not held for trading (cannot be changed once a 

designation has been selected) 

 

Because requirements for financial assets that are currently within the scope of K-IFRS 1109, subsequently 

measured either at amortized cost or FVTOCI, are more stringent than the requirements for existing K-IFRS 1039, 

the volatility of profit or loss may be enlarged upon adoption of K-IFRS 1109 due to the increase in proportion of 

financial assets subsequently measured at FVTPL. 

 

The Group maintains 3,589,995,456 thousand of loans and receivables, 532,965 thousand of held-to-

maturity investments, 36,300,093 thousand of available-for-sale (ñAFSò) financial assets and 22,818,283 

thousand of financial assets at FVTPL as of December 31, 2016. 

 

According to K-IFRS 1109, a debt instrument that is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the 

contractual cash flows and has contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding must be measured at amortized cost. The 

Group measures 3,589,995,456 thousand of loans and receivables and 532,965 thousand of held-to-maturity 

investments at amortized cost. 

 

According to K-IFRS 1109, a debt instrument that is held within a business model whose objective is achieved 

both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and has contractual terms that give rise on 

specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, 

must be measured at FVTOCI. The Group does not own debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets as of 

December 31, 2016. 

 

According to K-IFRS 1109, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition to measure an equity 

investment that is not held for trading at FVTOCI and this comprehensive income is not subsequently órecycledô 

into profit or loss. The Groupôs equity instruments classified as AFS financial assets as of December 31, 2016, 

amounted to 36,300,093 thousand and no unrealized valuation gains or losses on AFS financial asset were 

órecycledô into profit or loss during the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 

According to K-IFRS 1109, an equity instrument that is not held within a business model whose objective is to 

collect the contractual cash flows and has contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding nor designated as held for trading at 

FVTOCI is measured at FVTPL. The Group maintains 22,818,283 thousand of financial assets subsequently 

measured at FVTPL and consists entirely of equity instruments. 
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â Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

 

One major change from K-IFRS 1039 relates to the presentation of changes in the fair value of a financial liability 

designated as at FVTPL attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability. Under K-IFRS 1109, such changes 

are presented in other comprehensive income and not subsequently órecycledô into profit or loss. However, if 

changes in the fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liabilities are recognized in other 

comprehensive income, the changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss in the case an accounting mismatch 

is created or enlarged. 

 

Because existing K-IFRS 1039 recognizes some changes in the fair value of a financial liability designated as at 

FVTPL, normally recognized in profit or loss in other comprehensive income, profit or loss related to the valuation 

of financial liabilities can decrease. 

 

The Group does not own financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL as of December 31, 2016. 

 

ã Impairment methodology: financial assets and contract assets 

 

Although existing K-IFRS 1039 states impairment is recognized only if objective evidence of impairment exists in 

accordance with the incurred loss model, K-IFRS 1109 states impairment is recognized in accordance with the 

expected credit loss impairment model with regard to debt instruments, lease receivables, contract assets, loan 

commitments and financial guarantee contracts measured either at amortized cost or FVTOCI. 

 

K-IFRS 1109 measures expected credit losses through a loss allowance at an amount equal to the 12-month 

expected credit losses or full lifetime expected credit losses depending on the increasing degree of credit risk after 

initial recognition of financial assets shown as three levels in the table below. Credit losses can be recognized early 

compared to the incurred loss model of existing K-IFRS 1039. 

 Classification(*1)   Loss allowance  

Stage 1 
If credit risk does not significantly increase 

after initial recognition(*2) 

12-month expected credit losses: expected credit 

losses that result from those default events on the 

financial instrument that are possible within 12 

months after the reporting date 

Stage 2 
If credit risk significantly increases after 

initial recognition 
Full lifetime expected credit losses: expected credit 

losses that result from all possible default events 

over the life of the financial instrument Stage 3 If credit is impaired 

(*1) If a significant financial component does not exist, an accounting policy must be elected to recognize full 

lifetime expected losses for all contract assets or all trade receivables that do constitute a financing 

 transaction in accordance with K-IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers. If a significant 

financial component does exist, an accounting policy can be elected to recognize full lifetime expected 

losses for all contract assets or all trade receivables that do constitute a financing transaction in accordance 

with K-IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The same election is also separately permitted 

for lease receivables 

(*2) Credit risk can be considered to have not significantly increased if credit risk is low. 

 

K-IFRS 1109 states, for credit impaired financial assets at initial recognition, changes in lifetime expected losses 

since initial recognition are recognized as a loss allowance with any changes recognized in profit or loss. 

 

The Group holds debt instruments measured at amortized cost of 3,590,528,421( 3,589,995,456 thousand of 

loans and receivables and 532,965 of held-to-maturity investments), and loss allowance for these assets was set 

at 125,020,936 thousand. 

 

ä Hedge accounting 

 

Although new K-IFRS 1109 maintains the framework of hedge accounting (mechanics of hedge accounting: fair 

value hedge, cash flow hedge and hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation) prescribed in existing K-IFRS 

1039, hedge accounting under complex and rule-based requirements in K-IFRS 1039 was changed to reflect an 

entityôs risk management activities. Hedged items and hedging instruments have been expanded and requirements 

to apply hedge accounting have been relaxed by eliminating valuation and quantitative criteria (range of 80% to 

125%) regarding whether significant hedging effectiveness exists. 
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When applying hedge accounting under K-IFRS 1109, some transactions that do not meet the requirements for 

applying hedge accounting under existing K-IFRS 1039 become applicable for hedge accounting to reduce the 

volatility of profit or loss. 

 

Fair value changes in fair value-hedged items amounting to 2,435,799 thousand during the 2016 fiscal year 

were recognized as current income in accordance with hedge accounting applied by the Group as of December 31, 

2016, and 485,170 thousand (pretax) of fair value changes in fair value cash flow hedging instruments 

recognized as other comprehensive income have been transferred to current income. Fair value changes in fair 

value of cash flow hedging instruments accumulated in other comprehensive income are a valuation loss of 

18,649,654 thousand (pretax) as of December 31, 2016. 

According to transitional provisions regarding hedge accounting, when applying K-IFRS 1109 for the first time, 

hedge accounting regulations of existing K-IFRS 1039 can continued to be applied by electing the accounting 

policy. 

 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1115 ï Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

K-IFRS 1115 ï Revenue from Contracts with Customers enacted on November 6, 2015, effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, can be applied early. This standard will supersede K-IFRS 1018 ï 

Revenue, K-IFRS 1011 ï Construction Contracts, K-IFRS 2031 ï Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving 

Advertising Services, K-IFRS 2113 ï Customer Loyalty Programs, K-IFRS 2115 ï Agreements for the 

Construction of Real Estate and K-IFRS 2118 ï Transfers of Assets from Customers. Because the Group will apply 

K-IFRS 1115 on or after January 1, 2018, the standard must also be applied retrospectively to past comparable 

reporting periods in accordance with K-IFRS 1008 ï Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors, and completed contracts as of January 1, 2017, are to apply the practical expedient without restating the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Although existing K-IFRS 1018 ï Revenue discloses transactions by category, such as sale of goods, provision of 

services, interest income, royalty income, dividend income and construction contracts, revenue is recognized by 

applying the five-step revenue recognition model for all types of contracts in accordance with K-IFRS 1115 (1. 

Identify the contract with a customer, 2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract, 3. Determine the 

transaction price, 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract and 5. Recognize 

revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation). 

 

The Group has not begun improvements of internal control procedures or changes to the accounting system in 

connection with the adoption of K-IFRS 1115 as of December 31, 2016, and did not analyze the financial impact 

on the consolidated financial statements if this standard is applied. The Group will analyze the financial impact 

due to the adoption of K-IFRS 1115 beginning from 2017 and will disclose the results in the notes to the 2017 

annual consolidated financial statements. The standardôs general impact on the consolidated financial statements 

on a case-by-case basis is as follows: 

 

á  Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

 

The Group is primarily engaged in the engineering business, including plant construction, and revenue from 

construction contracts during the year ended December 31, 2106, amounted to 6,953,504 million, comprising 

99.2% of total revenue. Performance obligations discerned from contracts with customers must be identified and 

the timing of revenue recognition may change for each respective performance obligation depending on whether 

performed at one point of time or over the term of the contract. 

 

â  Fulfilling performance obligations over the term of the contract 

 

The Group enters into plant construction contracts with customers, which include design, purchase and installation, 

and will continue construction in the long term. The Group recognizes revenue on a pro rata basis in terms of stage 

of completion based on input costs. 

 

According to K-IFRS 1115, the entityôs performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity 

and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
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ã  Measurement of stage of completion using the input method 

 

The Group enters into plant construction contracts with customers which include design, purchase and installation, 

and will continue construction in the long term. The Group installs delivered equipment, in which the Group 

commissions an external company to produce special equipment, and the supply of special equipment and the 

provision of construction services are indistinguishable performance obligations. 

 

According to K-IFRS 1115, goods are not distinguishable at the beginning of a contract, and before a customer 

receives goods and related services, these goods are expected to be significantly controlled. The transferred cost of 

goods is compared to anticipated total cost in order to fully fulfill the performance obligation, and if an entity 

procures goods from third parties and is not significantly involved in the design and production of these goods, the 

same amount of cost of goods used can be recognized in good faith as revenue to the extent of the entityôs 

performance. 

 

ä  Variable consideration 

 

Measurement of construction revenue is contingent on the occurrence of a future event and various related 

uncertainties due to the nature of construction contracts, and the estimation of construction revenue needs to be 

frequently adjusted as uncertainties are resolved. 

 

When applying K-IFRS 1115, the Group will estimate the amount of variable consideration to which it will be 

entitled under the contract using the expected value method, and specifically, variable consideration is only 

included in the transaction price if, and to the extent that, it is highly probable that its inclusion will not result in a 

significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty has been subsequently resolved. The amount the 

entity has received or the amount that the entity is not expected to be entitled to among the received consideration 

is recognized as a refund liability. 

 

å Incremental costs of obtaining a contract 

 

The Group will, at times, pay fees to enter into contracts with customers and these fees are incremental costs limited 

to the costs that the entity would not have incurred if the contract had not been successfully obtained. According 

to K-IFRS 1115, these incremental costs incurred to fulfill a contract are recognized as an asset, and are amortized 

over the term of the contract. 

 

- Amendments to K-IFRS 1102ðShare-based Payment 

 

The amendments include: 1) when measuring the fair value of share-based payment, the effects of vesting and non-

vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payment should be consistent with the 

measurement of equity-settled share-based payment; 2) Share-based payment transaction in which the Group 

settles the share-based payment arrangement net by withholding a specified portion of the equity instruments per 

statutory tax withholding requirements would be classified as equity settled in its entirety (it otherwise would be 

classified as equity settled without the net settlement feature); and 3) when a cash-settled share-based payment 

changes to an equity-settled share-based payment because of modifications of the terms and conditions, the original 

liability recognized is derecognized and the equity-settled share-based payment is recognized at the modification-

date fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the liability at the modification date and the amount 

recognized in equity at the same date would be recognized in profit and loss immediately. The amendments are 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

 

Amendments to K-IFRS 1007 ï Statement of Cash Flows 

 

The amendments require that changes in liabilities arising from financial activities are disclosed. The amendments 

are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 
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Amendments to K-IFRS 1012 ï Income Taxes 

 

The amendments clarify that unrealized losses on fixed-rate debt instruments measured at fair value and measured 

at cost for tax purposes give rise to a deductible temporary difference regardless of whether the holder expects to 

recover the carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale or by use and that the estimate of probable future taxable 

profit may include the recovery of some of assets for more than their carrying amount.  When the Group assesses 

whether there will be sufficient taxable profit, the Group should compare the deductible temporary differences 

with future taxable profit that excludes tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible temporary 

differences.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 

 

The application of these amendments has no significant impact on the disclosure in the Groupôs consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended on December 31, 2016, to be submitted at the 

ordinary shareholdersô meeting were authorized at the Board of Directorsô meeting on February 28, 2017. 

 

(2) Basis of Consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Group and entities (including 

structured entities) controlled by the Company (and its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company 1) 

has the power over the investee; 2) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

investee; and 3) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.  The Company reassesses whether or not it 

controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements 

of control listed above. 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when 

the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the activities of the investee unilaterally.  The 

Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights 

in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:  

 

 ̋ the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 

other vote holders;  

 ̋ potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;  

 ̋ rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and  

 ̋ any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 

patterns at previous shareholders' meetings. 

 

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company 

ceases to control the subsidiary.  Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed 

to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.  Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries 

is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance 

 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

in line with the Groupôs accounting policies. 

 

All intragroup transactions and related assets and liabilities, income and expenses are eliminated in full on 

consolidation. 

 

Changes in the Groupôs ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 

subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.  The carrying amounts of the Groupôs interests and the non-

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.  Any 

difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 

consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 
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When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) 

the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 

previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 

interests.  When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative 

gain or loss has been recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously 

recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company had 

directly disposed of the relevant assets (i.e., reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings).  

The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognized as 

the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under K-IFRS 1039 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate 

or a joint venture. 

 

(3) Business Combination 

 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 

business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the fair values of the assets 

transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 

interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally 

recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value 

at the acquisition date, except that: 

 

 ̋ deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognized and measured in accordance with K-IFRS 1012 Income Taxes and K-IFRS 1019 Employee 

Benefits respectively; 

 ̋ liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-

based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 

of the acquiree are measured in accordance with K-IFRS 1102 Share-based Payment at the acquisition 

date; and  

 ̋ assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with K-IFRS 1105 Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that 

standard. 

 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of: a) the consideration transferred, b) the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, and c) the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 

assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of: a) the consideration transferred, b) the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree and c) the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the 

excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

 

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 

the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-

controlling interests' proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The 

choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests 

are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another K-IFRS. 

 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 

from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 

value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of 

the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement-period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with 

corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement-period adjustments are adjustments that arise from 

additional information obtained during the ómeasurement periodô (which cannot exceed one year from the 

acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date 
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The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 

measurement-period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 

settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is re-

measured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with K-IFRS 1039 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement, or K-IFRS 1037 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the 

corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. 

 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 

re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. 

Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized 

in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that 

interest were disposed of. 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or 

liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 

acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date.  

 

(4) Investments in associates and joint ventures 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.  Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 

those policies. 

 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 

the net assets of the joint arrangement.  Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 

arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the 

parties sharing control. 

 
The results of operations and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these 

consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified 

as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with K-IFRS 1105 Non-current Assets Held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations.  Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is 

initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize 

the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.  When 

the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint 

venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the 

associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are 

recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on 

behalf of the associate or joint venture. 

 

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities of an associate or a joint venture recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as 

goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.  Any excess of the Groupôs share of 

the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after 

reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
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Upon disposal of an associate or a joint venture that results in the Group losing significant influence over that 

associate or joint venture, any retained investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded 

as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with K-IFRS 1039 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement.  The difference between the previous carrying amount of the associate or joint 

venture attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or loss on 

disposal of the associate or joint venture.  In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognized 

in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis that would be required 

if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.  Therefore, if a gain or 

loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified 

to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity 

to profit or loss (as reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that associate or joint 

venture.   
 

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture, but the Group continues to use 

the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously 

been recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss 

would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. In addition, the Group 

applies K-IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations to a portion of investment in an 

associate or a joint venture that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale. 

 

The requirements of K-IFRS 1039 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are applied to determine 

whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss with respect to the Groupôs investment in an associate or 

a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for 

impairment in accordance with K-IFRS 1036 Impairment of Assets by comparing its recoverable amount (higher 

of value in use or fair value, less costs to sell) with its carrying amount and any impairment loss recognized forms 

part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance 

with K-IFRS 1036 Impairment of Assets to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently 

increases. 

 

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a 

joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement 

to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests. 

 

When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from 

the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the Group's consolidated financial statements 

only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 

 

(5) Interests in joint operations 

 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 

to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed 

sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require 

unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.  

 

When a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator recognizes in 

relation to its interest in a joint operation:  

 

 ̋ its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;  

 ̋ its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;  

 ̋ its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;  

 ̋ its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and  

 ̋ its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.  

 

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in 

accordance with the K-IFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.  
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When a Group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a Group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or 

contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint 

operation, and gains and losses resulting from the transactions are recognized in the Group's consolidated financial 

statements only to the extent of other parties' interests in the joint operation. 

 

When a Group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a Group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase 

of assets), the Group does not recognize its share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party. 

 

(6) Goodwill  

 

Goodwill resulting from an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 

the business, less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Groupôs cash-generating units (or groups 

of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

 

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 

when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.  If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 

less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each 

asset in the unit.  Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss 

recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

 

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

 

The Groupôs policy for goodwill resulting from the acquisition of an associate is described at Note 2 (4).   

 

(7) Non-current assets held for sale 

 

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continued use.  This condition is regarded as met only 

when the sale is highly probable and the non-current asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its 

present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition 

as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. 

 

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities 

of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether 

the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale. 

 

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in 

an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is classified 

as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the equity method 

in relation to the portion that is classified as held for sale.  Any retained portion of an investment in an associate 

or a joint venture that has not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method.  

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal results in the Group 

losing significant influence over the associate or joint venture. 

 

After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in 

accordance with K-IFRS 1039 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, unless the retained interest 

continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which case the Group uses the equity method. 

 

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous 

carrying amount or fair value, less costs to sell. 
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(8) Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is reduced for 

estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.  The Group recognizes revenue when the 

amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 

entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Groupôs activities, as described below. 

 

1) Sale of goods 

 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of the goods. 

 

2) Rendering of services 

 

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. 

Depending on the nature of the transaction, the Group determines the stage of completion by reference to surveys 

of work performed; services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed; or the proportion 

that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs of the transaction, as applicable. 

 

3) Dividend and interest income  

 

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholdersô right to receive payment has been 

established (provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income 

can be measured reliably). 

 

Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 

to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that assetôs net carrying amount on 

initial recognition 

 

4) Rental income  

 

The Groupôs policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in Note 2 (10). 

 

(9) Construction contracts   

 

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognized by 

reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on 

the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, 

except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion.  Variations in contract work, claims and 

incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered 

probable. 

 

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized to the 

extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.  Contract costs are recognized as expenses 

in the period in which they are incurred. 

 

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as 

an expense immediately. 

 

When contract costs incurred to date, plus recognized profits, less recognized losses exceed progress billing, the 

surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work.  For contracts where progress billings exceed 

contract costs incurred to date, plus recognized profits, less recognized losses, the surplus is shown as the amounts 

due to customers for contract work.  Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received.  Amounts billed for work 

performed, but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under 

trade and other receivables.    
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(10)  Lease  

 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 

1) The Group as lessor 

 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables at the amount of the Groupôs net 

investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic 

rate of return on the Groupôs net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

 

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 

asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

2) The Group as lessee 

 

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 

of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 

lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 

constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognized immediately in 

profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized in 

accordance with the Groupôs general policy on borrowing costs (see Note 2 (12)). Contingent rentals are recognized 

as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 

another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 

asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period 

in which they are incurred. 

 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a 

liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 

except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 

the leased asset are consumed. 

 

(11)  Foreign currencies 

 

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).  For the purpose of the consolidated financial 

statements, the results and financial position of each Group entity are expressed in Korean won, which is the 

functional currency of the entity and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. 

 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entityôs 

functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 

at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 
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Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for: 

 

 ̋ exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 

productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment 

to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings; 

 ̋ exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see 

Note 2 (25) below for hedging accounting policies); and 

 ̋ exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 

settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 

foreign operation), which are recognized initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from 

equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment. 

 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Companyôs foreign 

operations are expressed in Korean won using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.  

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 

fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 

(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the 

Groupôs entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes 

a foreign operation, or partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign 

operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the accumulated exchange differences in 

respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange 

differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognized, but they are not 

reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e., no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 

proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed to non-controlling interests in equity and 

are not recognized in profit or loss.  For all other partial disposals (i.e., partial disposals of associates or joint 

arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share 

of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.  

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognized in 

other comprehensive income. 

 

(12)  Borrowing costs 

 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 

cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings, pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets, is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 

 

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to equity in relation to construction contract amounted to 23,515 million 

(2015: 17,359 million) for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 

(13)  Government grants 

 

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attached to them and that the grants will be received.  

 

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as 

the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.  

 

Government grants related to assets are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position by deducting 

the grant from the carrying amount of the asset. The related grant is recognized in profit or loss over the life of a 

depreciable asset as a reduced depreciation expense. 
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Government grants related to income are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in 

which the Group recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 

of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognized in profit or loss in 

the period in which they become receivable 

 

(14)  Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits 

 

Contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when employees have 

rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 

 

For defined retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit 

method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising 

actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets 

(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position, with a charge or 

credit recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognized in 

other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or 

loss. Past service cost is recognized in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated 

by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined 

benefit costs are composed of service cost (including current service cost and past service cost, as well as gains 

and losses on curtailments and settlements), net interest expense (income) and remeasurement.  

 

The Group presents the service cost and net interest expense (income) components in profit or loss and the 

remeasurement component in other comprehensive income. Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past 

service costs. 

 

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the 

actual deficit or surplus in the Groupôs defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited 

to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future 

contributions to the plans. 

 

A l iability for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer 

of the termination benefit or when the entity recognizes any related restructuring costs. 

 

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties reduce service cost upon payment of these 

contributions to the plan. When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be contributions from 

employees or third parties, the accounting depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as follows:    

 

If the contributions are not linked to services (e.g., contributions are required to reduce a deficit arising from losses 

on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 

(asset).  

 

If contributions are linked to services, they reduce service costs. For the amount of contribution that is dependent 

on the number of years of service, the entity reduces service cost by attributing the contributions to periods of 

service using the attribution method required by K-IFRS 1019 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For the amount 

of contribution that is independent of the number of years of service, the entity reduces service cost by attributing 

contributions to the employeesô periods of service in accordance with K-IFRS 1019 paragraph 70. 

 

(15)  Taxation  

 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.   

 

1) Current tax 

 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 

deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Groupôs liability for current tax is 

calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  
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2) Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 

generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other 

than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit 

nor the accounting profit. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 

and associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 

assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only 

recognized to the extent it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which the benefits of the 

temporary differences can be utilized and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 

liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 

consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 

to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if, and only if, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 

levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities that intend either 

to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously 

in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 

recovered. 

 

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 

measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely 

through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is 

depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 

benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale.   

 

3) Current and deferred taxes for the year 

 

Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred taxes are also recognized 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 

the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 

combination.  

 

(16)  Property, plant and equipment 

 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is directly attributable to their purchase 

or construction, which includes any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. It also includes the initial 

estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.  
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Subsequent costs are recognized in carrying amount of an asset or as a separate asset if it is probable that future 

economic benefits associated with the assets will flow into the Group and the cost of an asset can be measured 

reliably.  Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. 

 

The Group does not depreciate land.  Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method based on 

the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

 

If each part of an item of property, plant and equipment has a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 

the item, it is depreciated separately. 

 

The Group reviews the depreciation method, the estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 

equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes 

are accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.  

 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the property 

(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 

profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognized.  

 

(17)  Intangible assets 

 

1) Intangible assets acquired separately 

 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost, less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over their 

estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost, less accumulated impairment losses.  

 

2) Internally generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure 

 

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

 

Expenditure arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognized as an 

intangible asset if, and only if, the development project is designed to produce new or substantially improved 

products, and the Group can demonstrate the technical and economical feasibility and measure reliably the 

resources attributable to the intangible asset during its development.  

The amount initially recognized for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred 

from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria. Where no internally generated intangible 

asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost, less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. 

 

3) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

 

Intangible assets that are acquired in a business combination are recognized separately from goodwill, and are 

initially recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial 

recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost, less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.  

 

4) De-recognition of intangible assets  

 

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use.  

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognized. 
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(18)  Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment 

loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent 

basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or 

otherwise, they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 

allocation basis can be identified. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 

at least annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, less costs to sell, or value in use. If the recoverable amount of an 

asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 

(or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount and the reduced amount is recognized in profit 

or loss. 

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or the 

cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

(19) Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. 

 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).  The 

discount rate used is a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage is recognized 

in profit or loss as borrowing cost. 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the remaining provision balance is reviewed and assessed to determine if the 

current best estimate is being recognized.  If the existence of an obligation to transfer economic benefit is no 

longer probable, the related provision is reversed during the period.  

 

1) Onerous contracts 

 

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognized and measured as provisions. An onerous 

contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the 

obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract 

 

2) Restructurings 

 

A restructuring provision is recognized when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 

and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 

the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 

includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 

necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.  
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3) Warranties 

 

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations under local sale of goods legislation are recognized at the 

date of sale of the relevant products, at the directorsô best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Groupôs 

obligation.   

 

4) Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination 

 

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. 

At the end of subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount 

that would be recognized in accordance with K-IFRS 1037 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets and the amount initially recognized, less cumulative amortization recognized in accordance with K-IFRS 

1018 Revenue. 

 

(20)  Financial Instruments 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when a Group entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 

are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 

recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 

FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss.   

 

All regular-way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade-date basis.  

Regular-way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 

time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  

 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: ófinancial assets at FVTPLô, óheld-to-

maturity investmentsô, óAFS financial assetsô and óloans and receivablesô. The classification depends on the nature 

and purpose of the financial assets, and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

 

1) Effective interest method 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument, and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 

rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or (where 

appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified 

as at FVTPL. 

 

2) Financial assets at FVTPL 

 

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is a contingent consideration that may be paid 

by an acquirer as part of business combination to which K-IFRS 1103 applies.  

 

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: 

 

 ̋ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term;  

 ̋ on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

 ̋ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

  



- 22 - 

 

 

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by an 

acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 

 

 ̋ such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise;  

 ̋ the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities, or both, which is 

managed, and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Groupôs 

documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 

internally on that basis; or 

 ̋ it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and K-IFRS 1039 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to 

be designated as at FVTPL. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized 

in profit or loss.  The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on 

the financial asset, and is included in the óother gains and lossesô line item in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income. 

 

3) Held-to-maturity investments 

 

Non-derivatives financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the Group has 

the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity 

investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment, with revenue 

recognized on an effective yield basis. 

 

4) AFS financial assets 

 

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and 

receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL. 

 

They are subsequently measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying amount 

of AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in foreign currency rates (see below), interest income 

calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments are recognized in profit or 

loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive income 

(as investments revaluation reserve). When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the 

cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss.   

 

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss when the Groupôs right to receive the 

dividends is established.   

 

The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 

currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains 

and losses that are recognized in profit or loss are determined based on the amortized cost of the monetary asset. 

Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

 

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be 

reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to, and must be settled by, delivery of such unquoted equity 

investments are measured at cost, less any identified impairment losses, at the end of each reporting period. 

 

5) Loans and receivables 

 

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an 

active market are classified as óloans and receivablesô. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using 

the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest 

rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.  

 

6) Impairment of financial assets 

 

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 

period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that more events have 

occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows of the investment 

have been affected. 
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For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is 

considered to be objective evidence of impairment. 

 

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment includes: 

 

 ̋ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty 

 ̋ default or delinquency in interest or principal payments 

 ̋ it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization 

 ̋ the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.  

 

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 

individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for 

a portfolio of receivables could include the Groupôs past experience of collecting payments and an increase in the 

number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in 

national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables. 

 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference 

between the assetôs carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 

financial assetôs original effective interest rate. 

 

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference between 

the assetôs carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market 

rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.   

 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets, with 

the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 

amount of the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.  

 

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 

the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount 

of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been 

had the impairment not been recognized.  

 

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognized in profit or loss are not reversed 

through profit or loss.  Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized in other 

comprehensive income.  In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through 

profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after 

the recognition of the impairment loss.   

 

7) De-recognition of financial assets 

 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire 

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 

another entity.  If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 

continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated 

liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognize a 

collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received. 

On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the assetôs carrying amount and the 

sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulated gain or loss that had been recognized in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognized in profit or loss.   
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On de-recognition of a financial assets other than in its entirety (e.g., when the Group retains an option to 

repurchase part of a transferred asset or it retains a residual interest and such an retained interest indicates that the 

transferor has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and has retained 

control of the transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between 

the part it continues to recognize under continuing involvement and the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of 

the relative fair value of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount 

allocated to the part that is no longer recognized and the sum of the consideration received for the part that is no 

longer recognized and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognized in other comprehensive 

income is recognized in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive 

income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognized and the part that is no longer recognized on 

the basis of the relative fair value of those parts.  

 

(21)  Financial liabilities and equity instruments  

 

1) Classification as debt or equity 

 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 

of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of financial liability and an equity instrument.   

 

2) Equity instruments 

 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 

of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized as the proceeds are received, net of direct 

issue costs. 

 

Repurchase of the Companyôs own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain or 

loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Companyôs own equity 

instruments. 

 

3) Financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction cost that is directly attributable to the issue 

of financial liabilities is deducted from the fair value of the financial liabilities on initial recognition. Transaction 

cost directly attributable to acquisition of financial liabilities at FVTPL is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities. 

 

4) Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is a contingent consideration that may 

be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which K-IFRS 1103 applies, it is held for trading or it 

is designated as at FVTPL. 

 

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 

 

 ̋ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term;  

 ̋ on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

 ̋ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 
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A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by 

an acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 

 

 ̋ such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise;  

 ̋ the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities, or both, which is 

managed, and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's 

documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 

internally on that basis; or 

 ̋ it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and K-IFRS 1039 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to 

be designated as at FVTPL. 

 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized 

in profit or loss.  The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial 

liability, and is included in the óother gains and lossesô line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income. 

 

5) Other financial liabilities 

 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with 

interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis. 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability, and of allocating 

interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments, including all fees and points paid or received (that form an integral part of the effective 

interest rate) and transaction costs and other premiums or discounts through the expected life of the financial 

liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 

6) Financial guarantee contracts 

 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 

holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms 

of a debt instruments.  

 

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, 

are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

 

 ̋ the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with K-IFRS 1037 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and 

 ̋ the amount initially recognized, less cumulative amortization recognized in accordance with the K-IFRS 

1018 Revenue  

 

7) De-recognition of financial liabilities 

 

The Group derecognize financial liabilities when the Groupôs obligation are discharged, canceled or expired. The 

difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and 

payable is recognized in profit or loss.  

 

(22)  Derivative financial instruments 

 

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 

foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross-currency 

swaps.  

 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently re-measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  The resulting gain or loss is 

recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, 

in such case the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.  

  



- 26 - 

 

 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset; a derivative with a negative fair value is 

recognized as a financial liability.  A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the 

remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realized or settled within 

12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities. 

 

1) Embedded derivatives 

 

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the 

definition of a derivative, their risks and economic characteristics are not closely related to those of the host 

contracts and the contracts are not measured at FVTPL.  

 

An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of 

the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be 

realized or settled within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as current assets or current 

liabilities. 

 

2) Hedge accounting 

 

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-

derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of net 

investments in foreign operations.  Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as 

cash flow hedges. 

 

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 

and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 

transactions.  Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether 

the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item. 

 

3) Fair value hedges 

 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognized in profit 

or loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable 

to the hedged risk.  The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item 

attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the line of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

relating to the hedged item. 

 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship; when the hedging instrument 

expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.  The fair value 

adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit or loss 

from that date. 

 

4) Cash flow hedges 

 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 

is recognized in other comprehensive income.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized 

immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the óother gains and lossesô line item. 

 

Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 

or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognized in profit or loss, in the same line of the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income as the recognized hedged item.  However, when the forecast transaction that 

is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses 

previously accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of 

the non-financial asset or non-financial liability. 

 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship; when the hedging instrument 

expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss 

accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately 

recognized in profit or loss.  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss 

accumulated in equity is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
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5) Hedges of net investments in foreign operations 

 

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similar to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on 

the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 

recognized immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the óother gains and lossesô. 

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign 

currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss in the same way as exchange differences relating to 

the foreign operation.  

 

(23)  Fair value 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 

into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 

account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 

purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment 

transactions that are within the scope of K-IFRS 1102 Share-based payment; leasing transactions that are within 

the scope of K-IFRS 1017 Leases; and measurements that have some similarities to fair value, but are not fair value, 

such as net realizable value in K-IFRS 1002 Inventories or value in use in K-IFRS 1036 Impairment of Assets. 

 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 

the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:  

 

 ̋ Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

Group can access at the measurement date 

 ̋ Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 

 ̋ Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.  

 

 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY : 

 

In the application of the Group accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to 

make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 

period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 

(1) Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 

 

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see Note 3 (2)), that the 

directors have made in the process of applying the Groupôs accounting policies and that have the most significant 

effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

(2) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
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1) Defined Benefit Plan 

 

The Groupôs defined benefit obligation is determined based on the actuarial valuation carried out at the end of 

each annual reporting period. Actuarial assumptions are the Groupôs best estimates of the variables in 

determining the cost of providing postretirement benefits, such as discount rates, rates of expected future salary 

increases and mortality rates. Significant estimation uncertainty is likely to persist in making such assumptions 

due to the long-term nature of postretirement benefit plan. At the end of this year, defined benefit liability of the 

plan is Ɓ52,404,036 thousand (2015: Ɓ76,036,007 thousand), as detailed in Note 19.   

 

2) Valuation of Financial Instruments 

 

As described in Note 6, the Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable 

market data to estimate the fair value of certain type of financial instruments.  Note 6 provides detailed 

information about key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of financial instruments, as well as 

the detailed sensitivity analysis for these assumptions.  The directors believe that the chosen valuation 

techniques and assumptions used are appropriate in determining the fair value of financial instruments.  

 

3) Probability on the Realization of Unused Deferred Tax Assets 

 

The Group recognized deferred tax assets arising from the Company, as the Group believed it is probable that 

sufficient taxable profits will be generated to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.  However, during the 

current year, in consideration of operating performance of the Group and estimate of the future operating 

performance, the Group did not recognize deferred tax asset of Ɓ44,992 million. 

 

4) Uncertainty on the Estimation of the Total Construction Revenue and Total Construction Cost 

 

The measurement of contract revenue is affected by various uncertainties related to the outcome of future events. 

The Group recognizes contract revenue allowing for the estimate of the compensation for delay based on past 

experience, as the amount of revenue can decrease as a result of damages for breach of contract if the completion 

date delayed due to reasons attributable to the Company. As of December 31, 2016, the maximum amount of 

compensation for delayed contractions is Ɓ207,659 million, as it was not probable, arising from the contracts 

overdue and being negotiated with clients. The Group requested a claim of extension for the completion date and 

conducted a procedure to prove that there is no reason reasons attributable to the Company. 

 

 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO WITHDRAWAL RESTRICTIONS : 

 

Short- and long-term financial instruments subject to withdrawal restrictions as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

consist of the following: 

  2016   2015  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Short-term financial instruments   

 Government grant  1,309,701  1,347,447 

 Guarantees of indebtedness 160,506 208,738 

 Pledged assets 2,415,199  -  

Long-term financial instruments(*1)   

 Cash and bank deposits 17,000 17,000 

 Pledged assets 210,000  -  

Guarantee deposits   

 Customs guarantee deposits 405,839 362,788 

 Guarantees of indebtedness  6,171  7,266 

Total  4,524,416  1,943,239 

(*1) Long-term financial instruments of non-current assets are included in the consolidated statements of financial 

position. 

 

As of December 31, 2016, the Group has deposited 19,100 million (2015: 22,000 million) into the bank as a 

fund for a subcontractor. 
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY : 

 

(1) Categorizations of financial instruments as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 

 

  2016  

 Assets at FVTPL 

 Loans and  

 receivables  

 AFS financial  

 assets  

 Held-to-  

 maturity  

 investments  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Cash and cash equivalents  -   882,178,525  -  - 

Short-term financial instruments  -  75,622,153  -  - 

Financial assets held for trading 22,818,283  -  -  - 

Trade receivables  - 942,085,420  -  - 

Due from customers for contract work  - 1,301,015,986  -  - 

Other accounts and notes receivable  - 116,713,458  -  - 

AFS financial assets1  -  - 36,300,093  - 

Held-to-maturity investments  -  -  - 532,965 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  - 

Others  -   272,379,914  -   -  

Total  22,818,283 3,589,995,456  36,300,093  532,965 

 

  2016  

  Derivatives   

 designated   

 as hedges   Total   Fair values  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Cash and cash equivalents  -  882,178,525  882,178,525 

Short-term financial instruments  - 75,622,153 75,622,153 

Financial assets held for trading  - 22,818,283 22,818,283 

Trade receivables  - 942,085,420 942,085,420 

Due from customers for contract work  - 1,301,015,986 1,301,015,986 

Other accounts and notes receivable  - 116,713,458 116,713,458 

AFS financial assets1  - 36,300,093 36,300,093 

Held-to-maturity investments  - 532,965 532,965 

Derivative financial instruments  16,203,411  16,203,411  16,203,411 

Others(*1)  -   272,379,914  272,379,914 

Total  16,203,411  3,665,850,208  3,665,850,208 

(*1) Other financial assets consist of accrued income, short-term loans, deposits and other non-current assets in 

the consolidated statements of financial position. 

 
  2016  

  Financial   

 liabilities   

 measured at   

 amortized cost  

 Derivatives   

 designated  

 as hedges   Total   Fair values  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Trade payables and  

 other payables  1,179,332,711  -  1,179,332,711  1,179,332,711 

Borrowings and other 

 financial liability 1,451,606,902  - 1,451,606,902 1,451,606,902 

Derivative financial 

 instruments  - 25,909,140 25,909,140 25,909,140 

Deposits received(*1) 195,545,604  - 195,545,604 195,545,604 

Accrued expenses  52,915,130  -   52,915,130  52,915,130 

Total  2,879,400,347  25,909,140  2,905,309,487  2,905,309,487 

(*1) Deposits received consist of other current liabilities and other non-current liabilities in the consolidated 

statements of financial position. 
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  2015  

 

 Loans and  

 receivables  

 AFS financial   

 assets  

 Held-to-  

 maturity  

 investments  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Cash and cash equivalents  695,733,686  -  - 

Short-term financial instruments 113,629,476  -  - 

Trade receivables 736,242,798  -  - 

Due from customers for contract work 1,519,621,931  -  - 

Other accounts and notes receivable 118,405,880  -  - 

AFS financial assets  - 45,737,699  - 

Held-to-maturity investments  -  - 4,655,800 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  - 

Others  381,946,939  -   -  

Total  3,565,580,710  45,737,699  4,655,800 

 

  2015  

  Derivatives  

 designated   

 as hedges   Total   Fair values  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Cash and cash equivalents  -  695,733,686  695,733,686 

Short-term financial instruments  - 113,629,476 113,629,476 

Trade receivables  - 736,242,798 736,242,798 

Due from customers for contract work  - 1,519,621,931 1,519,621,931 

Other accounts and notes receivable  - 118,405,880 118,405,880 

AFS financial assets(*1)  - 45,737,699 45,737,699 

Held-to-maturity investments  - 4,655,800 4,655,800 

Derivative financial instruments 9,933,522 9,933,522 9,933,522 

Others  -   381,946,939  381,946,939 

Total  9,933,522  3,625,907,731  3,625,907,731 

(*1) Other financial assets consist of accrued income, short-term loans, deposits and other non-current assets in the 

consolidated statements of financial position. 

 

  2015  

  Financial   

 liabilities   

 measured at   

 amortized cost  

 Derivatives   

 designated  

 as hedges   Total   Fair values  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Trade payables and  

 other payables  1,462,971,661  - 1,462,971,661 1,462,971,661 

Borrowings and other 

 financial liability 2,822,051,851  - 2,822,051,851 2,822,051,851 

Debentures 10,000  - 10,000 10,000 

Derivative financial 

 instruments  - 28,281,451 28,281,451 28,281,451 

Deposits received 186,433,080  - 186,433,080 186,433,080 

Accrued expenses  41,810,108  -   41,810,108  41,810,108 

Total  4,513,276,700  28,281,451  4,541,558,151  4,541,558,151 
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(2) Income and loss of financial instruments by category for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, are 

as follows: 

  2016   2015  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Financial assets AFS   

 Gain (loss) on valuation (other comprehensive income or loss)  (3,441,194)  53,240 

 Dividend income 3,995,379 1,180,619 

 Impairment loss (6,768,672) 9,085,641 

Loans and receivables   

 Interest income 15,631,924 10,025,108 

 (Reversal of) bad debt expenses (47,170,030) (9,470,933) 

 Other bed debt expenses (50,099) 331,393 

 Loss on disposal of trade receivables  (13,371,878) (6,558,989) 

 Gain (loss) on foreign currency transaction (1,843,623) 15,551,954 

 Gain (loss) on foreign currency translation 36,888,969 26,096,869 

Financial assets at FVTPL   

 Gain (loss) on disposal of financial assets held for trading  - 206,967 

 Gain (loss) on valuation of derivatives  - (25,180) 

 Gain (loss) on derivative transactions  - (2,165) 

 Held-to-maturity investments   

Interest income 568,505 811,048 

 Gain on foreign currency translation (58,224) 275,647 

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL and derivatives designated 

 as hedges 
  

 Gain (loss) on valuation of foreign exchange forward contracts 2,435,799 (49,485) 

 Gain (loss) on foreign exchange forward transactions 3,454,702 (25,144,706) 

 Gain (loss) on valuation of foreign exchange forward contracts 

  (other comprehensive income or loss) 4,260,796 (9,655,344) 

Financial liabilities and measured at amortized cost   

 Interest expenses (50,484,641) (47,670,980) 

 Gain (loss) on foreign currency transactions (1,723,873) (18,330,228) 

 Gain (loss) on foreign currency translation  (35,743,343)  (13,048,591) 

 

6. FAIR VALUES : 

 

No material changes in business environment and economic circumstances that affect fair values of the Groupôs 

financial assets and financial liabilities occurred during the reporting period. 

 

(1) Management has determined the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 

amortized cost in the consolidated financial statements to be the same as fair value. 

 

(2) Financial Instruments Measured at Cost 

 

Details of financial instruments measured at cost as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 

 

   2016   2015  

  (In thousands of Korean won) 

AFS financial assets Non-listed equities  3,229,761  2,457,501 

Equity investments and others  20,000  20,000 

Total  3,249,761  2,477,501 

 

Some of the non-listed equities, equity investments and others are measured at cost because the variability of 

estimated cash flows is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed. 

The Group has no intention to dispose of the aforementioned financial instruments in the near future.  The 

financial assets are expected to be measured at fair values when the fair values can be reliably assessed. 
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(3) Fair Value Hierarchy  

 

Fair value hierarchy classifications of the financial instruments that are measured at fair value or whose fair values 

are disclosed as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 

 

  2016  

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Assets     

 Financial assets AFS  3,366,064  975,000  28,709,268  33,050,332 

 Derivative financial instruments  -  16,203,411  - 16,203,411 

Liabilities     

 Derivative financial instruments  -  25,909,140  -  25,909,140 

 

  2015  

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Assets     

 Financial assets AFS  14,957,270  1,080,000  27,222,928  43,260,198 

 Derivative financial instruments  - 9,933,522  - 9,933,522 

Liabilities     

 Derivative financial instruments  -  28,281,451  -  28,281,451 

 

There have been no significant changes in Level 1 and Level 2 for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 

(4) Changes in the Financial Instruments on Level 3 

 

The changes in the financial instruments of Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 

  2016   2015  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Balance as of January 1  27,222,928  26,056,342 

Profit or loss recognized as other 

 comprehensive income / expense  1,486,340  1,166,586 

Balance as of December 31  28,709,268  27,222,928 

 

Yong-in Clean Water Co., Ltd. and Samsung Veolia Incheon Wastewater Co., Ltd., which are a non-listed equities, 

were recorded at the fair value determined by an independent external institution calculated using reasonable model 

and appropriate estimation. Dividend discount model was used in the calculation of fair value. In preparing the pro 

forma consolidated financial statements, economic indicators and situations were taken into consideration, and it 

was presumed that major business structures of the investee have not changed. 

 

In addition, the Group measured the fair value of investments in Construction Guarantee and others using net asset 

value approach. 

 

(5) The Group recognizes events that cause movements between levels or movements between levels as 

circumstances change. 
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(6) Valuation Technique and the Inputs 

 
Valuation techniques and inputs used in the recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements and disclosed fair 

values categorized within Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2016, are as follows:  

 

  Fair value   Level   Valuation techniques   Inputs  

 Range of inputs   

 (weighted average)  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

AFS financial assets:      

 Yong-in Clean Water Co., Ltd.  10,114,051 3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate before tax 8.16ï10.16 (9.16)% 

 Samsung Veolia 11,941,382 3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate before tax 13.55ï15.55 (14.55)% 

 Shinwon C.C. 975,000 2 Market approach Quoted price - 

Construction Guarantee and 

 others 6,653,837 
3 

Net asset value approach Growth rate, discount 

 rate and others 
- 

Derivatives      

 Foreign currency forward 

(23,756,694) 
2 

Present value technique Foreign currency forward 

 exchange rate 
- 

 Interest rate Swap 

(595,335) 
2 

Market approach Interest rate, discount rate 

 and others 
- 

 Currency Swap 
 14,646,300 

2 
Present value technique Exchange rate, discount 

 rate and others 
- 

 

(7) Valuation Processes for Fair Value Measurements Categorized Within Level 3 

 

The Groupôs finance team performs the fair value measurements required for financial reporting purposes, 

including Level 3 fair values. This team reports valuation processes and results at least once every year in line with 

the Groupôs year-end reporting dates. 

 

(8) Sensitivity analysis for Recurring Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Level 3 

 

Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments is performed to measure favorable and unfavorable changes in the 

fair value of financial instruments that are affected by the unobservable parameters using a statistical technique. 

When the fair value is affected by more than two input parameters, the amounts represent the most favorable or 

most unfavorable. Level 3 financial instruments subject to the sensitivity analysis are equity securities whose 

changes in fair values are recognized as other comprehensive income. 

 

The results of the sensitivity analysis for the effect on other comprehensive income from changes in inputs for the 

aforementioned equity securities are as follows: 

 

  2015   2016  

  Favorable  

 changes  

 Unfavorable   

 changes  

 Favorable   

 changes  

 Unfavorable   

 changes  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Financial assets:     

 AFS financial  

  assets(*1)  1,256,847  (1,142,297)  1,321,104  (1,166,866) 

(*1) Changes in their fair values are calculated by increasing or decreasing the discount rate before tax. Favorable 

changes reflect a 1% decrease in discount rate before tax, and unfavorable changes reflect a 1% increase in 

discount rate before tax. 

 

(9) Reclassification of financial assets 

 

There have been no reclassified financial assets due to changes in purpose or use for the year ended December 31, 

2016. 
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7. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS: 

 

Trade receivables that were transferred to Samsung Card and four other financial institutions and derecognized 

from the consolidated financial statements amount to 2,487,548 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 

(2015: 1,751,664 million). In relation to the transactions, loss on disposal of 13,372 million (2015: 6,559 

million) was recognized at the transfer date. In addition, the Group continues involvement in case of natural 

disasters.  

 

The information in relation to the Groupôs continuing involvement is as follows:  

 
  2016  

  

 Carrying amount of continuing involvement   

 in the consolidated statement of financial position   

 Type of continuing  

 involvement  

 Undiscounted  

 cash outflows to  

 repurchase   

transferred assets  

 Financial assets   

 held for trading  

 AFS  

 financial assets  

 Financial  

 liabilities at 

 FVTPL  

 Maximum  

 exposure to 

 loss(*2)  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Written put options(*1)  56,799,500  -  -  -  56,799,500 

(*1) Written put option related to natural disaster 

(*2) This amount of receivables is not past due as of December 31, 2016, and the terms to maturity are less than 

two years. 

 
  2015  

  

 Carrying amount of continuing involvement   

 in the consolidated statement of financial position   

 Type of continuing  

 involvement  

 Undiscounted  

 cash outflows to  

 repurchase   

transferred assets  

 Financial assets   

 held for trading  

 AFS  

 financial assets  

 Financial  

 liabilities at 

 FVTPL  

 Maximum 

 exposure to 

 loss(*2)  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Written put options(*1)  55,084,000  -  -  -  55,084,000 

(*1) Written put option related to natural disaster 

(*2) This amount of receivables is not past due as of December 31, 2015, and the terms to maturity are less than 

three years. 

 

 

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES : 

 

Trade and other receivables of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 

 

  2016  

 

 Trade receivables  

 Due from customers  

 for contract work   Other receivables  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Receivables not past due  944,791,541  1,301,015,986  117,860,748 

Impaired receivables  114,437,133  4,962,356  139,058 

 1,059,228,674 1,305,978,342 117,999,806 

Allowance for bad debts (117,143,254) (4,962,356) (1,286,348) 

Present value of discount 

 account  -   -   -  

  942,085,420  1,301,015,986   116,713,458 

 

  2016  

  Advanced payments   Short-term loans   Long-term loans(*1)  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Receivables not past due  206,538,477  9,885,363  24,678,889 

Impaired receivables  421,359  1,628,979  -  

 206,959,836 11,514,342 24,678,889 

Allowance for bad debts (1,415,507) (1,628,979)  - 

Present value of discount 

 account  -   -   (6,289,967) 

  205,544,329  9,885,363  18,388,922 
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  2015  

 

 Trade receivables  

 Due from customers  

 for contract work   Other receivables  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Receivables not past due  737,600,366  1,519,621,931  119,100,175 

Impaired receivables  20,559,493  4,874,323  -  

 758,159,859 1,524,496,254 119,100,175 

Allowance for bad debts (21,917,061) (4,874,323) (694,295) 

Present value of discount 

 account  -   -   -  

  736,242,798  1,519,621,931  118,405,880 

 

  2015  

  Advanced payments   Short-term loans   Long-term loans(*1)  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Receivables not past due  362,569,824  12,180,790  28,283,013 

Impaired receivables  421,359  1,608,644  -  

 362,991,183 13,789,434 28,283,013 

Allowance for bad debts (2,020,085) (1,608,644)  - 

Present value of discount 

 account  -   -   (5,916,457) 

  360,971,098  12,180,790  22,366,556 

(*1) Long-term loans are included in other non-current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

 

The aging analysis of trade and other receivables not past due as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, is as follows: 

 

  2016  

 
 Less than 1   

 year overdue  

 1 yearï2   

 years overdue  

More than 2 years  

 overdue   Total  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Trade receivables  865,980,822  38,150,603  40,660,116  944,791,541 
Due from customers for 

 contract work 1,033,185,657 94,349,561 173,480,768 1,301,015,986 

Other receivables 91,511,677 23,349,095 2,999,976 117,860,748 

Short-term loans 3,203,764  - 6,681,599 9,885,363 

Long-term loans 252,367 797,222 23,629,300 24,678,889 

 

  2015  

 
 Less than 1   

 year overdue  

 1 yearï2   

 years overdue  

More than 2 years  

 overdue   Total  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Trade receivables  581,739,677  125,981,135  29,879,554  737,600,366 
Due from customers for 

 contract work 965,542,615 522,157,716 31,921,600 1,519,621,931 

Other receivables 112,856,994 360,327 5,882,854 119,100,175 

Short-term loans 8,080,790 4,100,000  - 12,180,790 

Long-term loans 1,003,935 2,652,102 24,626,976 28,283,013 

 

The age of trade and other receivables is analyzed based on the date when the receivables occurred. 
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Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

are as follows: 

  2016  

 

 Balance as of   

 January 1  

 Provision for  

 receivables   

 impairment  

 Unused amounts  

 reversed and others  

 Balance as of  

 December 31  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Trade receivables  (21,917,061)  (47,081,997)  (48,144,195)  (117,143,253) 

Due from customers for 

 contract work (4,874,323) (88,033)  -  (4,962,356) 

Other receivables (694,295) (1,428,446) 836,393 (1,286,348) 

Short-term loans (1,608,644) (154,002) 133,667 (1,628,979) 

Advanced payments  (2,020,085)  (65,347)  669,925  (1,415,507) 

  (31,114,408)  (48,817,825)  (46,504,210)  (126,436,443) 

 

  2015  

 

 Balance as of  

 January 1  

 Provision for 

 receivables 

 impairment 

 Unused amounts 

 reversed and others  

 Balance as of 

 December 31  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Trade receivables  (31,468,958)  (1,606,528)  11,158,425  (21,917,061) 

Due from customers for 

 contract work (6,675,016) (2,029,134) 3,829,827 (4,874,323) 

Other receivables (420,513) (635,482) 361,700 (694,295) 

Short-term loans (1,508,722) (331,392) 231,470 (1,608,644) 

Advanced payments  (2,166,348)  (349,115)  495,378  (2,020,085) 

  (42,239,557)  (4,951,651)  16,076,800  (31,114,408) 

 

 

9. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING : 

 

Financial assets held for trading of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows 

 

  2016   2015  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Equity-linked derivatives  22,818,283  - 

 

 

10. AFS FINANCIAL ASSETS : 

 

The changes in AFS financial assets for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 

  2016   2015  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Balance as of January 1  45,737,699  54,714,232 

Acquisition and transfer 765,500 61,989 

Valuation (3,441,194) 53,240 

Impairment (6,768,672) (9,085,641) 

Others(*1)   6,760  (6,121) 

Balance as of December 31  36,300,093  45,737,699 

(*1) Others include amounts from changes in foreign exchange rates. 
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Financial assets AFS as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consist of the following: 

   2016   2015  

  Details  

 Acquisition   Recorded   Recorded  

 Cost   Book value   Book value  

  (In thousands of Korean won) 

Listed equities  

(excludes equity-method investments) (1)  56,914,544  3,366,064  14,957,270 

Non-listed equities  

(excludes equity-method investments) 

 

(2) 22,669,058 26,260,194 24,220,749 

Investments in partnerships (3)  5,026,663  6,673,835  6,559,680 

Total  84,610,265  36,300,093  45,737,699 

(1) Listed equities 

 
  Number of  

 shares owned   Ownership(%)   Acquisition cost  

 Recorded   

 book value  

 Recorded  

 book value  

   (In thousands of Korean won) 

iMarket Korea Inc. 323,660 0.90  161,830  3,366,064  8,188,598 

POSCO Plantec (*1) 5,206,671 2.88  56,752,714  -   6,768,672 

Total    56,914,544  3,366,064  14,957,270 

(*1) POSCO Plantec have been delisted during April 2016, and the Group recognized impairment loss of 

6,769 million (2015: 9,085 million).  The difference between the acquisition cost and the book value 

of the above list is recognized in other components of equity as part of accumulated other comprehensive 

gains (gain or loss on valuation of financial assets AFS) after taking into consideration the tax that is 

recognized directly in equity. 

 

(2) Non-listed equities 
  2016   2015  

 

 Number 

 of shares  

 owned  

 Ownership 

 (%)  

 Acquisition   

 cost  

 Recorded 

 book value 

 (market value) 

 Recorded  

 book value  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Yong-in Clean Water Co., Ltd. 2,006,358 19.9  10,031,789  10,114,051  10,218,381 

Samsung Veolia 1,436,298 19.9 7,181,490 11,941,381 10,464,867 

Dongbu Environment Co., Ltd. 392,040 19.8 1,960,200 1,960,200 1,960,200 

Entech Enc. Co., Ltd. 51,000 9.6 294,218 26,847 26,848 

Poonglim Industrial Co. Ltd. 10,991 0.1 56,937 56,937 56,936 

Veolia Samsung Operating Co., Ltd. 1,990 19.9 9,950 9,950 9,950 

Incheon United Football Club 2,000 0.0 5,000 104 104 

Asan Smart Water 195,600 15.0 978,000 978,000 212,500 

Dongyang Engineering and 

 Construction Corp. 205 0.0 231,470  -  - 

Lotte Advanced Materials 

 (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (*1) 58,800 49.0 203,274 197,724 190,963 

(Membership Right)      

Shinwon C.C. 5 0.7  1,716,730  975,000  1,080,000 

Total    22,669,058  26,260,194  24,220,749 

(*1) The name of the company was changed to Samsung Chemical (Thailand) Co., Ltd. The Group does not have 

significant influence over Lotte Advanced Materials (Thailand) Co. Ltd. as the voting rights are restricted to 

be exercised by arrangements with other shareholders. 
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(3) Investments in Partnerships 
  2016   2015  

 

 Number 

 of shares  

 owned  

 Ownership 

 (%)  

 Acquisition   

 cost  

 Recorded 

 book value 

 (market value) 

 Recorded  

 book value  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Construction Guarantee 4,429 0.11  4,828,995  6,350,699  6,242,188 

Plant & Mechanical Contractors 

 Financial Cooperative of Korea 74 0.01 67,192 70,228 70,040 

Electronic Contractorsô 

 Financial Cooperative 300 0.01 57,941 96,709 96,083 

Information & Communication  

 Financial Cooperative 100 0.01 20,967 36,534 35,859 

Korea Electric Engineers 

 Association 200 0.12 20,000 37,400 36,260 

Engineering Financial Cooperative 113 0.02 11,568 62,265 59,250 

Fire Guarantee, Seoul Division 40 0.02  20,000  20,000  20,000 

Total    5,026,663  6,673,835  6,559,680 

 

The Group has recognized impairment loss on the investments whose book values are not expected to recover in 

the near future.  Details of accumulated impairment losses on AFS securities as of December 31, 2016, are as 

follows: 

  Accumulated Impairment Losses  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

POSCO Plantec  56,752,714 

Entech Enc. Co., Ltd. 267,372 

Incheon United Football Club 4,896 

Dongyang Construction Industry  231,470 

Total  57,256,452 

 

Changes in gain and loss from AFS securities recorded as other comprehensive income for the years ended 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:  

 

  2016   2015  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

   

Balance as of January 1  9,393,912  9,353,556 

Valuation amount  (3,441,194)  53,240 

Deferred income tax  832,769  (12,884) 

Balance as of December 31  6,785,487  9,393,912 

 

 

11. HELD -TO-MATURITY SECURITIES : 

 

Held-to-maturity securities consist of government and public bonds. Details of held-to-maturity securities as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:  

  Maturity   2016   2015  

  (In thousands of Korean won) 

Government and public bonds  
Within 1 year  91,610  4,189,970 

More than 1 year, but within 7 

 years  441,355  465,830 

Total  532,965  4,655,800 
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12. OTHER ASSETS: 

 

Details of other assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:  

  2016   2015  

  Current   Non-Current   Current   Non-Current  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Accrued income  1,861,736  -   1,105,761  - 

Prepaid value-added tax 5,227,550  - 30,546,574  - 

Guarantee deposits 763,623  -  -  - 

Long-term financial instruments  - 227,000  - 83,537,000 

Long-term loans  - 18,388,922  - 22,736,610 

Long-term receivables - other  -   697,840  -   860,616 

Total  7,852,909  19,313,762  31,652,335  107,134,226 

 

 

13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENT URE: 

 

(1) Details of associates and joint venture of the Group as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 
 2016 2015 

 Investee   Region   Ownership (%) 

Recorded book 

 value   Ownership (%)  

Recorded book 

 value  

Associates  (In thousands of Korean won) 

 Muharraq STP Company 

  B.S.C.(*1) Bahrain 4.57  3,123,881 4.57  2,011,967 

 Muharraq Holding  

  Company 1 Limited Bahrain 45.00 25,619,065 45.00 19,232,294 

 Cheonan eco-energy Domestic 29.40 1,719,693 29.40 1,371,219 

Joint Venture      

 Offshore 1 Consulting 

  Corporation USA 49.00  422,722 49.00  412,298 

Total   30,885,361   23,027,778  

(*1) Although the Company holds less than 20% of the equity shares of Muharraq STP Company B.S.C., the equity 

 method was applied as the Company can exert influence through its seat in the investeeôs board of directors. 

 

(2) Changes in investments in associates and joint venture for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, are 

as follows: 
  2016  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

 

 Muharraq STP  

 Company  

 B.S.C.  

 Muharraq 

 Holding 

 Company 1  

 Limited  

 Cheonan eco- 

 energy  

 Offshore 1  

 Consulting  

 Corporation   Total  

      

At January 1  2,011,967  19,232,294  1,371,219  412,298  23,027,778 

Share of profit 783,738 3,650,084 348,474 (2,089) 4,780,207 

Others 328,176 2,736,687 - 12,513 3,077,376 

At December 31  3,123,881  25,619,065  1,719,693  422,722  30,885,361 

 
  2015  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

 

Muharraq STP 

 Company  

 B.S.C.  

 Muharraq 

 Holding 

 Company 1 

 Limited  

 Cheonan eco- 

 energy  

 Offshore 1 

 Consulting 

 Corporation   Total  

      

At January 1  1,250,180  12,063,822  1,970,357  546,596  15,830,955 

Share of profit 413,615 4,257,552 (599,138) (163,914) 3,908,115 

Others 348,172 2,910,920 - 29,616 3,288,708 

At December 31  2,011,967  19,232,294   1,371,219  412,298  23,027,778 
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(3) Summary of condensed financial information of major associates, details of adjustments from the book 

value of investments in associates and dividends received from associates as of and for the years ended 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 
  2016  

 

 Muharraq STP 

 Company B.S.C.  

 Muharraq Holding 

 Company 1 

 Limited  

 Cheonan eco-

 energy  

 Offshore 1 

 Consulting 

 Corporation  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Current assets  23,836,558  31,608   9,430,448   862,699 

Non-current assets 403,069,158 123,108,765 67,036,626   - 

Current liabilities 5,491,246  66,209,118 6,995,133   - 

Non-current liabilities 349,917,106   - 56,659,856   - 

Equity 71,497,362 56,931,255 12,812,086 862,699 

Ownership percentage 4.57% 45.00% 29.40% 49.00% 

Net assets of equity shares 3,264,033 25,619,065 3,766,749 422,722 

Unrealized gains and losses   (140,153)   -    (2,047,056)   -  

Book value of associates  3,123,881  25,619,065   1,719,693   422,722  

 
  2015  

 

 Muharraq STP 

 Company B.S.C.  

 Muharraq Holding 

 Company 1  

 Limited  

 Cheonan eco- 

 energy  

 Offshore 1 

 Consulting 

 Corporation  

  (In thousands of Korean won)  

Current assets  24,038,355  30,885  4,972,569  561,091 

Non-current assets 400,833,754 113,724,048 71,277,939 280,333 

Current liabilities 5,823,856 71,016,502 4,848,143 - 

Non-current liabilities 363,854,547 - 59,388,095 - 

Equity 55,193,706 42,738,431 12,014,270 841,424 

Ownership percentage 4.57% 45.00% 29.40% 49.00% 

Net assets of equity shares 2,519,731 19,232,294 3,532,191 412,298 

Unrealized gains and losses   (507,764)   -    (2,160,972)   -  

Book value of associates  2,011,967  19,232,294  1,371,219  412,298 

 

  2016  

 

 Muharraq STP 

 Company B.S.C.  

Muharraq Holding 

 Company 1 

 Limited  

 Cheonan eco-

 energy  

 Offshore 1 

 Consulting  

 Corporation  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Profit  35,235,903  35,235,903  23,779,181  - 

Operating income 26,638,329 26,638,329 5,746,974 (545) 

Net income (loss) 8,805,820 7,911,964 783,893 (4,733) 

Other comprehensive 

 income (7,884,452) (7,182,676)   - 91,790 

Total comprehensive income 921,369 729,288 783,893 87,057 

 
  2015  

 

 Muharraq STP 

 Company B.S.C.  

Muharraq Holding 

 Company 1  

 Limited  

 Cheonan eco-

 energy  

 Offshore 1 

 Consulting 

 Corporation  

 (In thousands of Korean won) 

Profit  38,123,816  -  5,940,972  - 

Operating income 27,377,919   - 1,303,473   - 

Net income (loss) 10,830,969 9,461,226 396,625 (334,517) 

Other comprehensive 

 income   -   -   -   - 

Total comprehensive income 10,830,969 9,461,226 396,625 (334,517) 
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